FILED
09-30-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP2383-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAIMON VON JACKSON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Faye M. Flancher, Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Mark F. Nielsen, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

MELINDA A. SWARTZ State Bar No. 1001536

LAW OFFICE OF MELINDA SWARTZ LLC 5215 North Ironwood Road, Suite 216A Milwaukee, WI 53217 (414) 270-0660

E-mail: melinda@mswartzlegal.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did counsel's failure to communicate with Mr. Jackson deny Mr. Jackson his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel?

The circuit court found that counsel's failure to communicate was deficient performance, but that Mr. Jackson was not prejudiced by his conduct.

The court of appeals assumed that counsel's failure to communicate was deficient conduct, but that Mr. Jackson was not prejudiced by his conduct.

2. Did the trial court misuse its discretion by failing to follow up to determine whether counsel had visited Mr. Jackson as she instructed when she denied Mr. Jackson's request for a new attorney on October 17th and decide Mr. Jackson's October 28th motion for a new attorney

Mr. Jackson argued below that the court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied his motion for a new attorney on October 17th. The circuit court and the court of appeals determined that the court properly exercised its discretion in denying his motion for a new attorney on October 17th.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are warranted, given that this Court granted review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 15, 2014, Mr. Jackson was charged with felony murder, as a party to a crime, as a repeater, possession of a firearm by a felon, party to a crime, as a repeater, and armed robbery with use of force, party to a crime, as a repeater.

(1). On November 1, 2022, Mr. Jackson pled no contest to an amended charge of second degree reckless homicide, use of a dangerous weapon, as a repeater. (25, 71). The Honorable Faye M. Flancher sentenced Mr. Jackson to 30 years imprisonment, 20 years initial confinement and 10 years extended supervision. (33, 75:23).

Mr. Jackson, represented by prior postconviction/appellate counsel, filed a postconviction motion for plea withdrawal which included claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. (46). Following a *Machner*² evidentiary hearing at which trial counsel, Scott Anderson, and Mr. Jackson testified, the circuit court, the Honorable Mark F. Nielsen presiding, denied the postconviction motion. (78, 52; App.54-88).

Mr. Jackson appealed. On December 29, 2021, in a split unpublished decision, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's denial of the postconviction motion for plea withdrawal. *State v. Jackson*, No. 2019AP2383-CR, 2021WL6132278 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 29, 2021). (App.4-52). On January 28, 2022, Mr. Jackson timely filed a petition for review which this court granted on March 21, 2022.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Maurice Carter's Killing

This case stems from the December 11, 2014 shooting death of Maurice Carter. The State charged three men, Bobby Henderson ("Henderson"), Travenn

¹ The armed robbery charge was later dismissed, after the state did not oppose Mr. Jackson's motion to dismiss this count, on the grounds that it was duplicative of the felony murder count. (13, 62:19-22).

² State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Webster ("Webster"), and Mr. Jackson with crimes related to Carter's killing.³ The issue for this case is what role each man played.

Mr. Jackson affirmatively maintained throughout the case that he was not the person who shot Carter. He told the police that he was part of a robbery and shooting incident that led to Carter's death, but that his role was only the lookout for the robbery that was supposed to occur. (1:3; 78:78). Mr. Jackson told Anderson that he was the lookout for a planned robbery and not the shooter. (78:30-31). Both to the Presentence Investigation ("PSI") writer and the court at sentencing, Mr. Jackson maintained that he was not the shooter. (28:3-4; 75:11-12).

Henderson, under pressure by the police, claimed Mr. Jackson was the shooter. (1:3). Although the record does not contain Carter's statement, it suggests that Carter told the authorities that Mr. Jackson was the shooter. Carter was a material witness for the State and his potential testimony would incriminate Mr. Jackson. (18; 75:28,78). Both Henderson and Webster ultimately resolved their cases with pleas to reduced charges and both agreed to testify against Jackson.⁴

³ See Racine County Case No. 2014CF1719 - State of Wisconsin vs. Bobby G. Henderson and Racine County Case No. 2014CF1720 - State of Wisconsin vs. Travenn L. Webster.

⁴ It appears from Wisconsin Circuit Court Access ("CCAP") that, like Mr. Jackson, both Henderson and Webster were originally charged with felony murder, armed robbery, and felon in firearm. Racine County No. 2014CF1719 possession of See Case (https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2014CF001719&countyNo=51&index=0&m viewed 9/29/22) and Racine County Case No. (https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2014CF001720&countyNo=51&index=0&m ode=details, last viewed 9/29/22). Henderson pled no contest to 2nd degree reckless homicide, party to a crime and received a sentence of 12 years initial confinement and eight years of extended supervision. See Racine County Case No. 2014CF1719. Webster pled guilty to robbery, party to a crime and was sentenced to ten years initial confinement and five years extended supervision. See Racine County Case No. 2014CF1720. When Henderson and Carter each pled, there was a notation in the court event regarding their participation in the prosecution of coactors. See 9/15/15 court event, Racine County Case No. 2014CF1719 and 9/14/15 court event, Racine County Case No. 2014CF1720.

Henderson's statement, and likely Carter's statement, incriminating Mr. Jackson are the only evidence in the record suggesting that Mr. Jackson was the shooter.

On the other hand, other evidence in the record exists corroborating that Mr. Jackson was not the shooter from an independent eyewitness and an ammunition magazine found at the scene. An independent eyewitness, Tauries Murry, was present during the shooting. (1:2). While Murry was outside with Carter, he saw two black men run to Carter, who scuffled with them. (1:2). Murry heard a gunshot, saw Carter fall to the ground; both men rifled through Carter's pockets and eventually fled. (*Id.*). Murry described the two people who participated directly in the shooting as follows: the first person as a short, heavy set, light skinned male black wearing a light gray hoodie and gray sweatpants and the second person as a dark skinned black male, slightly taller and thinner than the first person and wearing all black and a black hat. (46:20-23). Casino surveillance video from five hours after the shooting showed Henderson wearing all black and Webster wearing a grey hoodie and grey sweatpants, matching Murry's description of the two men directly involved in Carter's shooting. (78:59-60; 81:Exs.1,2). Mr. Jackson was wearing all white in the video. (78:60; 81:Ex.2).

A handgun ammunition magazine recovered at the scene had Henderson's fingerprints on it. (1:2).

Attorney Scott Anderson's representation of Mr. Jackson

On March 11, 2016, the State Public Defender's Office ("SPD"), appointed Attorney Scott Anderson, as Mr. Jackson's fourth attorney. (21). On August 9, 2016, the circuit court scheduled the jury trial for November 1, 2016 and a final pretrial on October 17, 2016. (69:3).

Approximately six weeks later, on September 20, 2016, Mr. Jackson filed a pro se motion for a new attorney, stating that Anderson failed to comply with his requests for information, failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness,

and failed to maintain a client-lawyer relationship. (24). The motion also noted that Mr. Jackson had filed an OLR grievance against Anderson.⁵ (24).

Mr. Jackson asked for a hearing on the motion as soon as possible. (24). However, the court, the Honorable Faye Flancher, did not hear the motion until the October 17th final pretrial. (70:2-3).

State's plea offer

By an early morning October 17th email to Anderson, the prosecutor offered to amend the felony murder charge to party to a crime of second degree reckless homicide, while armed, as a repeater, dismiss and read-in the felon in possession of a firearm charge and all the drug charges in Mr. Jackson's other case⁶. (46:34). The prosecutor would recommend a prison sentence, leaving the amount up to the court. (*Id.*). The prosecutor said that he would leave the offer open until the Friday before the trial.⁷ (*Id.*).

At the final pretrial hearing that same day, the prosecutor stated that he had sent his final offer via email, did not have a copy of it, and would make a record of it on the trial date. (70:5). He said that the offer would be held open until the date of trial. (70:6).

⁵Mr. Jackson's grievance led to the Office of Lawyer Regulation filing a formal complaint against Anderson. *See Office of Lawyer Regulation v. Anderson*, 2020 WI 82, 394 Wis. 2d 190, 950 N.W.2d 191. In these disciplinary proceedings, this Court upheld the referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law that Anderson: (1) failed to timely and reasonably consult with Mr. Jackson about the means by which his defense objectives were to be accomplished, violating SCR 20:1.4(a)(2); (2) failed to timely and reasonably keep Mr. Jackson informed about the status of his case, violating SCR 20:1.4(a)(3); and (3) failed to promptly comply with Mr. Jackson's reasonable requests for information about his case, violating SCR 20:1.4(a)(4). *Anderson*, 394 Wis. 2d 190, ¶¶18, 37, 44. Based on these violations and violations related to another client, this Court suspended Anderson's license for 60 days. *Id.* ¶¶35, 37, 44, 48.

⁶ In Racine County Case No. 2016CF252, Mr. Jackson was charged with several felony drug counts and was represented by Anderson.

October 31, 2016 was the Friday before the November 1st jury trial.

October 17th hearing on Mr. Jackson's motion for new counsel

At the final pretrial, Judge Flancher addressed Mr. Jackson's motion for new counsel:

THE COURT: Mr. Jackson are you... asking that Mr. Anderson withdraw?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Why is that?

THE DEFENDANT: Because he hasn't – he doesn't keep in contact with me. He hasn't been properly representing me at all. He hasn't filed any motions on my behalf that I asked him about. He hasn't done anything for me.

THE COURT: Well, just because you ask Mr. Anderson to file motions, doesn't mean that he will or should.

THE DEFENDANT: But if he says he ---

THE COURT: Stop. Please don't interrupt me when I am speaking. That's my one rule. I give you the courtesy of listening, I expect the same of you. This is a case that is over two years old. You have had a number of other attorneys representing you.

I can see that Mr. Hart represented you. This has been scheduled for trial many times. The information was filed back on January 22nd of 2015. I will not allow Mr. Anderson to withdraw whether it be on your request or anyone else's.

So Mr. Anderson, I ask that you meet with Mr. Von Jackson and that you also be prepared to proceed on November 1st. Again it is the number one trial. (70:3).

Anderson's failure to visit or speak with Mr. Jackson between October 17th and October 31st

On October 18th, Anderson appears to have sent Mr. Jackson the state's plea offer in a letter. (78:24). This letter is not in the record. There is no evidence in the record that Anderson's letter explained the pros and cons of taking the offer.

In an October 19, 2016 letter to Judge Flancher, Mr. Jackson complained that he had not had much contact with Anderson, who had only visited him three times since his appointment. Among other things, Mr. Jackson said that Anderson

had not reviewed the plea offer with him. Mr. Jackson asked the judge to look into this matter and appoint him a new attorney. On October 28, 2022, Mr. Jackson filed another pro se motion to terminate Anderson as his attorney. ⁸

Despite Judge Flancher instructing Anderson to meet with Mr. Jackson, Anderson did not go see him between October 17th and October 31st. (78:9-10).

Anderson did not visit with Mr. Jackson until November 1st, the day Mr. Jackson's trial was scheduled. (78:4). Anderson admitted during his postconviction hearing testimony that he should have met with Mr. Jackson prior to the jury trial date after the judge told him to visit Mr. Jackson. (78:28). Anderson also admitted that he "could have done better" by spending more time with Mr. Jackson reviewing the facts, discovery, weighing the pros and cons of entering a plea and reviewing all the necessary items in a homicide case. (78:27-28).

Anderson testified that he "didn't put much stock in the expiration" date of the prosecutor's offer, believing that it would still be available on the jury trial date, because "deadlines are often not real deadlines." (78:39-40)

November 1st - Anderson meets with Mr. Jackson who pleads no contest that same day

On November 1st, Anderson first discussed the State's plea offer with Mr. Jackson. (78:9-10, 24). Mr. Jackson agreed to accept the State's offer. (78:41). This discussion first took place in the jail and then later in a room next to the courtroom to complete the plea questionnaire. (78:62-64). According to Anderson, these discussions took 1.3 hours, while Mr. Jackson estimated that the jail conversation took about 20 minutes and the second conversation took approximately 5 minutes. (78:52, 62-64).

⁸ The letter and motion, although in the circuit court record, are not currently in the record on appeal. Counsel is filing a motion to supplement the record with these items along with this brief.

Both Mr. Jackson and Anderson believed that Mr. Jackson was entering a no contest plea to second degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime and reviewed this charge as party to a crime. (78:29-30, 80, 82, 84, 89; 71:11). The plea form identified the charge as "second degree reckless homicide PTAC (while armed)" and included the statutory citation for party to a crime "939.05" (26:1). "PTAC" was crossed out but it is not clear how and when it was crossed out. *See Id*.

However, a portion of the State's plea offer lapsed. At the plea hearing, after Anderson filed the plea questionnaire, the prosecutor filed an amended information which charged second degree reckless homicide, while armed, as a repeater, and possession of a firearm by a felon, as a party to a crime. (71:2; 25). The second degree reckless homicide charge was not charged as party to a crime. (25). Anderson told the court at the plea hearing, that he had reviewed the crime as party to a crime with Mr. Jackson and that he (Anderson) "wasn't sure" about the amended information. (71:11). Anderson testified at the *Machner* hearing that he was "surprise[d]" during the plea hearing that the charge was without party to a crime. (78:42).

Mr. Jackson entered a no contest plea to second degree reckless homicide. (71:3-12). During the plea colloquy, he did not affirmatively admit to being the shooter. *See Id*.

Sentencing proceedings

On the day Mr. Jackson's sentencing was originally scheduled, January 17, 2017, Anderson filed a motion to withdraw as counsel on the grounds that Mr. Jackson's OLR grievance placed Anderson in an adversarial position, and created a conflict of interest, with Mr. Jackson. (29:1). The court granted Anderson's motion. (72:2, 30).

Mr. Jackson was appointed another attorney who represented him at his June 12, 2017 sentencing hearing. (31, 75).

At sentencing, the court rejected Mr. Jackson's continued assertion that he was not the shooter and that he was not present at the shooting. The court stated: "[t]he information in this case, Mr. Jackson, does indeed place you right in the thick of this, and I fully believe based on everything that I have read that you were the shooter in this case or involved in this shooting. Your lack of remorse, your lack of responsibility is telling." (75:23).

Postconviction Motion and Decision

Mr. Jackson's postconviction motion sought plea withdrawal on the several grounds, including that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel. (46). Among other arguments, he claimed Anderson's conduct was deficient when failed to confer sufficiently with him, failed to review the discovery, and failed to provide enough information or develop a defense strategy for Mr. Jackson to make a knowing and voluntary decision whether to proceed to trial or accept the plea bargain. (46:10). Mr. Jackson asserted he was prejudiced because, but for counsel's conduct, he would have not entered a plea but would have gone to trial. (46:10-11). He also claimed that the court erroneously denied his request for new counsel. (46:15-17)⁹.

Following the *Machner* hearing, the circuit court denied the postconviction motion in a written decision. (78; 52; App.54-88). The court concluded that Anderson's performance in failing to meet and confer with Mr. Jackson more frequently constituted deficient performance. (52:25-26,34; App.78-79,87). The court concluded, however, that Mr. Jackson was not prejudiced by Anderson's deficient conduct. (52:28-32; App.81-85). It rejected Mr. Jackson's assertion that he would not have entered a plea and would have gone to trial had counsel communicated more effectively and found that Mr. Jackson's testimony was not

⁹ Mr. Jackson also raised a claim that his plea was not knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered due to an insufficient plea colloquy, pursuant to *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 285 N.W.2d 12 (1986); the circuit court denied this claim. (46:11-15; 52:13-19,34;

credible. (52:28-29; App.81-82). The court rejected Mr. Jackson's assertion that he was faced with the choice of pleading to something he had not done or going to trial with an unprepared attorney and found that Mr. Jackson entered his plea based on the strength of the State's case and the reduced exposure benefits of the plea offer. (52:29-30,34; App.82-83,87). The court further found that the denial of Mr. Jackson's request for new counsel was not an erroneous exercise of the court's discretion. (52:32-34, 35; App.85-88).

Court of Appeals proceedings

On appeal, Mr. Jackson argued for plea withdrawal on the grounds that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel and that the circuit court erred in denying his request for new counsel. ¹⁰ He asserted that counsel's performance was deficient when he failed to meet and confer with him before trial. He argued that he was prejudiced by counsel's conduct because he pled guilty to a crime he did not commit, second degree reckless homicide as a principal and the court sentenced him as such.

In a split decision, the court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Jackson*, No. 2019AP2383-CR, 2021 WL6132278 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 29, 2021). (App. 4-53). The majority assumed that counsel's failure to meet more frequently with Mr. Jackson, including after the court instructed him to do so, constituted deficient performance. *Id.*, ¶42. (App.26). However, the majority concluded that Mr. Jackson failed to prove prejudice because he failed to demonstrate that but for counsel's limited communication and failure to meet as requested by the court, he would have proceeded to trial and not accepted the state's plea offer. *Id.*, ¶44-50. (App.27-32). The majority also concluded that the circuit court did not

App.66-72,87). Mr. Jackson did not raise this claim on appeal. Therefore, the facts and arguments relevant to this issue are not discussed in this brief.

 $^{^{10}}$ He also argued for plea withdrawal, or alternatively, resentencing in the interests of justice.

erroneously exercise its discretion in denying Mr. Jackson's request for new counsel. Id., ¶¶51-56. (App.32-35). 11

Filed 09-30-2022

The dissent concluded that Mr. Jackson was entitled to withdraw his plea on the grounds that the plea colloquy was defective, that the State's breach of its plea offer was prejudicial, and that Anderson's abandonment of Mr. Jackson during all phases of his representation was prejudicial. *Jackson*, supra, ¶63 (Reilly, J., dissenting). (App.37-38). In so concluding, among other things, citing to Missouri v. Frye¹², the dissent found that Anderson failed to communication properly with Mr. Jackson about the State's plea offer and failed to inform the court at the plea hearing that the State's plea offer was for a plea to second degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime. *Id.*, ¶¶76-77. (App.44-45). The dissent also concluded that Mr. Jackson was prejudiced by counsel's conduct because Mr. Jackson would have accepted the State's pretrial offer to plead as party to a crime. Id., ¶85. (App. 49-50). It further found that Mr. Jackson was prejudiced because: 1) his plea resulted in Mr. Jackson becoming "the shooter rather than the lookout"; 2) the court sentenced him as the killer rather than the lookout, as the credible facts support; and 3) he received a longer sentence than his co-actors who each pled to crimes, as a party to a crime. *Id.*, ¶¶84-87. (App. 49-51).

Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

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