Page 1 of 43

FILED 10-27-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP2383-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAIMON VON JACKSON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE FAYE M. FLANCHER PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE MARK F. NIELSEN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Jackson has improperly raised and argued issues that were not argued below or in Jackson's petition for review; they are not preserved for review and should not be addressed.

Jackson raised two questions in his petition for review: (1) whether the court of appeals properly determined that Jackson failed to sufficiently support his assertion that Anderson's failure to meet with him left Anderson unprepared to try the case, and therefore Jackson would have rejected the State's plea offer and proceeded to trial if Anderson met with him more; and (2) whether counsel's failure to communicate with Jackson facially established prejudice without a need for Jackson to show a reasonable probability of a different result. (Pet. 7–8.) This Court granted the petition on those issues only, and did not expand the petition in any manner.

In Jackson's brief before this Court, he does not address either question and now raises and argues two completely different issues: (1) whether counsel was constitutionally deficient for failing to communicate with Jackson about a purportedly different plea offer than the one he accepted, which was extended October 17, 2016, and initially was set to expire the Friday before trial, though the prosecutor then left the offer open until the morning of trial. Jackson claims this prejudiced him by resulting in his pleading to a "less favorable" plea than initially offered because the charge to which he pleaded was not charged as a party to a crime (Jackson's Br. 21–24); and (2) whether the circuit court had a duty to *sua sponte* revisit Jackson's request for new counsel on the morning of trial, November 1, 2016, based on Jackson's post-October-17 pro se filings (Jackson's Br. 25–26).

These arguments were not made below. (R. 46:9-11.) Accordingly, this ground of deficient performance was not specifically addressed with counsel or the defendant at the Machner hearing; Anderson was asked general questions Anderson's content of the timing and relating tocommunications with Jackson and what Anderson did to prepare for trial. (R. 46:1-19; 78:3-28, 70-99; Jackson's Court of Appeals Appellant's Br. 6-8.) It was not addressed by the circuit court when adjudicating Jackson's motion apart from a passing mention that Jackson stated in the factual background portion of his motion that the State's offer to resolve the case via plea agreement expired the Friday before trial, but noting that Jackson was clearly wrong about that given that the State said at the hearing that negotiations would stay open until the trial commenced. (R. 52:25; Jackson, 2021 WL 6132278, ¶¶ 40-42.)

Jackson did not challenge that finding of fact, nor did he appeal on those grounds. In the court of appeals, Jackson argued solely that Anderson's failure to meet with him was by itself enough to establish deficient performance, leading to Anderson's being unprepared for trial, which Jackson alleged prejudiced him by causing him to not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter his plea. (Jackson's Court of Appeals Br. 6-8); Jackson, 2021 WL 6132278, ¶ 40. The court of appeals then opted to decide this case purely on the prejudice prong, because Jackson "fail[ed] to submit anything at all" as to how he was prejudiced. Id. ¶¶ 44-45. That is a vast departure from what Jackson now addresses in his brief. (Jackson's Br. 17-24.)

And Jackson never once argued in either the postconviction court or the court of appeals that the circuit court should have revisited his request for new counsel on the morning of trial, and his petition for review didn't hint at this claim. (R. 46; Jackson's Court of Appeals Br. 12–14; Pet. 7–8.) In fact, Jackson's petition for review did not raise the issue of whether the court appropriately denied his request for new counsel at all, and instead appeared to claim that Anderson's failure to communicate was by itself sufficient to establish *Strickland* prejudice without Jackson's needing to provide any other facts. (Pet. 7–8; *see also* Resp. to Pet. 6).

As the appellant and petitioner, Jackson was required to properly preserve his claims for review, and is accordingly limited to the claims he both preserved below and raised in his petition for review. State v Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997); Emer's Camper Corral, LLC v. Alderman, 2020 WI 46, ¶ 44, 391 Wis. 2d 674, 943 N.W.2d 513 (holding that a petitioner cannot raise alternative legal theories to support their claims for relief that were not raised in the petition for review to this Court). Arguing one theory of ineffective assistance of counsel in the circuit court does not preserve for review a similar but distinct ineffective assistance claim on different grounds. See, e.g., Everett v. Barnett, 162 F.3d 498, 502 (7th Cir. 1998) (petitioner defaulted on argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to call a specific witness where petitioner had previously argued ineffectiveness in counsel's failure to call other witnesses). Jackson cannot now argue new theories of ineffective assistance that he did not preserve or petition upon.

This Court should further hold that Jackson's generic, undeveloped argument about the circuit court's inquiry into Jackson's motion for new counsel, one referencing a completely different legal principle (*Strickland* prejudice), is insufficient to bring any complaints before this Court about the denial of his motion for new counsel under *Lomax* or new theory that the court should have readdressed it on the morning of trial. This was not a pro se petition and therefore is not due the liberal reading given to such filings. *See Amek bin-Rilla v. Israel*, 113 Wis. 2d 514, 521–22, 335 N.W.2d 384 (1983). Jackson's petition never suggested that he was raising a challenge to the circuit court's exercise of discretion in denying his motion for new counsel even on October 17, let alone at some time after that. (Pet. 1–8.) His claim was purely about establishing prejudice under *Strickland*.

The only issues raised in Jackson's petition were whether the court of appeals appropriately held that Jackson had not proven prejudice, and whether Anderson's failure to communicate with Jackson relieved him of the burden of proving prejudice. (Pet. 1–8.) Jackson has abandoned those arguments, and neither of the issues Jackson has argued in his brief was sufficiently raised below or even suggested in his petition for review. His arguments should be deemed forfeited and this case dismissed.

II. Fourth counsel's meeting with Jackson only three times before the trial date is not *ipso facto* constitutionally deficient performance, and Jackson is required to, and cannot, show prejudice.

Both Jackson's preserved ineffective assistance claim and his improperly raised claim fail. The record shows that despite not meeting with Jackson as much as Anderson admitted he should have, Anderson adequately prepared for trial and gave Jackson objectively reasonable professional advice to take the State's plea offer—an offer that Jackson was made aware of at the October 17 hearing, Anderson wrote to him about the day after the hearing, and Anderson discussed with him and advised him about on the morning of trial. Anderson therefore cannot be found to have provided constitutionally deficient performance even if the rules of professional conduct required him to communicate with Jackson more.

And there is no real argument to make that Jackson can show prejudice, which this Court in *Cooper* already held is a required showing and not simply presumed. *Cooper*, 387 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 32. Jackson had no viable defense whatsoever to the felony murder and felon in possession of a firearm charges in the complaint on which trial would have proceeded. Indeed, by his own telling, Jackson was acting as a lookout during the attempted armed robbery, meaning he would have admitted to being a party to the crimes of felony murder and felon in possession of a firearm. And those charges, combined with the multiple drug charges from a separate case that were dismissed and read in as part of this plea, carried far more prison exposure than the single second-degree homicide charge to which Jackson pleaded no contest.

No reasonable person in Jackson's position would have insisted on proceeding to trial in these circumstances, and the circuit court found that Jackson's averments to the contrary were not credible—a finding that this Court will not supplant on review unless that credibility determination was one no reasonable jurist could make. The circuit court and court of appeals properly applied the law and appropriately rejected Jackson's claim.

18

A. To be found constitutionally deficient, an attorney must have given inappropriate advice to his client or performed incompetently in his actual preparation for trial; deviation from the ethical rules alone is not constitutional deficiency.

The standard by which counsel's representation of a criminal defendant is judged under the Sixth Amendment is well settled: the representation must not fall "below an objective standard of reasonableness." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 688. An attorney's performance is not constitutionally deficient, however, merely because it "deviated from best practices or most common custom." Richter, 562 U.S. at 105; see also State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 22, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 ("The defendant does not show [deficient performance] simply by demonstrating that his counsel was imperfect or less than ideal."). To be found constitutionally ineffective, the attorney's representation must be so lacking that it "amounted to incompetence under 'prevailing professional norms" to such a degree that it actually effected the outcome of the proceeding. Richter, 562 U.S. at 105 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). In short, "a defendant is entitled to 'reasonably effective assistance' by a 'reasonably competent attorney," no more and no less. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 22 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88.

To that end, "[r]epresentation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties," including "duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. But "[t]hese basic duties neither exhaustively define the obligations of counsel nor form a checklist for judicial evaluation of attorney performance." *Id.* Additionally, "[w]hile the Sixth Amendment guarantees a right to effective assistance of counsel, this right's purpose is 'not to improve the quality of

Page 20 of 43

legal representation The purpose is simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial." State v. Savage, 2020 WI 93, ¶ 27, 395 Wis. 2d 1, 951 N.W.2d 838 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689); see also United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 658 (1984) ("[T]he right to the effective assistance of counsel is recognized not for its own sake, but because of the effect it has on the ability of the accused to have a fair trial"). The bottom line is that "[u]nder the Strickland standard, breach of an ethical standard does not necessarily make out a denial of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of assistance of counsel." Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 165 (1986).

When an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is brought, then, the question is not whether counsel could have been better or whether the attorney met his or her ethical obligations under the rules of professional conduct. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 22; *Cooper*, 387 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 22 (holding that an attorney's "fail[ure] to meet the demands of SCR 20:1.4(a)(2) [establishing an attorney's ethical duty of communication with a client] cannot mean, ipso facto, that he performed deficiently within *Strickland*'s meaning"). The question is whether counsel's ultimate actions and advice were actions and advice that a reasonable attorney would take and offer under the circumstances.

> B. There is no minimum number of meetings an attorney must have with a client to provide constitutionally effective representation.

The State acknowledges that, three years after Jackson entered his no contest plea, this Court found that Anderson violated SCR 20:1.4 (requiring an attorney to maintain reasonable and prompt communication with a client) in this case by failing to timely communicate with Jackson about defense strategy, the status of the case, and failing to respond to Jackson's reasonable requests for information. Matter of Disciplinary Proceedings Against Anderson, 2020 WI 82, ¶ 18, 394 Wis. 2d 190, 950 N.W.2d 191. However, Jackson has never specifically identified: (1) any information Jackson would have given to Anderson that would have altered Anderson's trial preparation including any witnesses Jackson believed would be helpful; nor (2) anything that Anderson should have explained to him that his previous attorneys did not already address or that would have caused him to evaluate the benefit of the plea offer differently. (Jackson's Br. 18-22; R. 46:9-11; 78:99-111.)

In other words, Jackson never provided any facts that would make the crucial connection between Anderson's failure to meet with him and any unreasonable lack of preparation for trial by Anderson or information that would make Anderson's advice to take the plea unreasonable. Unreasonable assistance in actually meeting the State's case, either through a plea or through a trial, is the crux of deficient performance. Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658. In other words, while reduced communications might affect the defendant's confidence in his attorney's performance, he still must show the substantive impact of the attorney's conduct: that the lack of communication changed the substance or effectiveness of the attorney's plea advice, or, if no plea was entered, how the parties tried the case. Here, Jackson makes no effort to show such an impact. Anderson's failure to perform the professional duties required of Wisconsin attorneys under the ethics rules does not show that Anderson's trial preparation or advice about the plea fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

And that puts this case squarely on all fours with *Cooper*. This Court already established in that case—consistently with the Supreme Court's and other

21

jurisdictions'³ pronouncements on the relationship between professional ethics rules and constitutionally deficient performance—that while ethical rules provide guidelines for what is expected of attorneys, even an attorney's demonstrated failure to fulfill the duty to maintain prompt and diligent communication with the client cannot, by itself, establish deficient performance. *Cooper*, 387 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 22.

Just like in this case, in *Cooper*, the defendant's attorney did not communicate with him sufficiently; there, the attorney did not respond to the defendant's requests for information for a full ten months until two weeks before the trial date. *Id.* ¶ 2. Cooper then sent a letter to the court requesting new counsel. *Id.* ¶ 2. Shortly before trial, the State offered to resolve the case via a plea agreement, and Cooper decided to accept it after the attorney told him he had no hope

³ See, e.g., Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 165 ("Under the Strickland standard, breach of an ethical standard does not necessarily make out a denial of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of assistance of counsel."); Robinson v. State, 435 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ga. Ct. App. 1993) (same, quoting Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 165); People v. Grimes, 115 N.E.3d 587, 601 (N.Y. 2018) ("rules of professional conduct "cannot be applied as if they were controlling statutory [authority] or decisional law" and not 'every violation of an ethical rule will constitute ineffective assistance of counsel." (citation omitted)); Taylor v. State, 51 A.3d 655, 670 (Md. 2012) ("the requirements of establishing ineffective assistance of counsel are not coextensive with the requirements of establishing a potential violation of [Maryland's code of professional ethics]"); State v. Thompson, 2022 WL 1744242, *14 (Del. Sup. Ct., May 31, 2022) (unpublished) ("[E]thical rules do not govern an ineffective assistance analysis"); cf. Matter of Wolfram, 847 P.2d 94, 98-99 (Ariz. 1993) (judicial finding that a defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel does not definitively establish an ethical violation); but see State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012) (Iowa courts "rely on our ethical rules for lawyers to measure counsel's performance.").

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